
  Team No. R01 

 

Docket No. 19-305 

 

 

IN THE 

Supreme Court of the United States 

 
 

 

ROBERT “BOBBY” MAXELROD, et al., 

      Petitioner, 

V. 

 

AVA CATO 

      Respondent. 

 

 

On Writ of Certiorari to the 

United States Court of Appeals 

for the Fourteenth Circuit 
 

 

BRIEF FOR RESPONDENT 

 

 



R01 

 

i 
 

QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

1. Whether the domestic purchase of unsponsored American Depository 

Receipts is sufficient to subject the foreign company to U.S. securities 

laws. 

2. Whether an employee who, at the insistence of a superior, inserts a false 

or misleading statement into investor materials, is subject to primary 

liability under Rule 10b5(a) or (c), even if that individual is not the maker 

of the statement for purposes of Rule 10b-5(b). 
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STATUTORY AND REGULATORY PROVISIONS 

This case presents a question of the interpretation of Section 10(b) of the 

Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 and 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (hereinafter 

Rule 10b-5).  

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Ava Cato (Respondent) had just graduated from Sapienza Università di 

Roma when she found a position operating as General Counsel for Alcollezione 

in 2009. (R. at 2). A  As a new attorney, Cato had no experience in the Italian 

soda industry. (R. at 2). Eager to ensure compliance within the company, Cato 

quickly familiarized herself with the extensive Italian industrial regulations. (R. 

at 2). Cato assisted Marconi and Factor in setting up Alcollezione as the Italian 

equivalent of a corporation. (R. at 2). 

Alcollezione is an Italian liqueur and spirit company operated by Gianna 

Marconi, an American entrepreneur,  and Benny Factor, a senior financial 

executive at a major American corporation. (R. at 2). Marconi would be the 

CEO and Factor would serve as the CFO. Alcollezione then began to initiate the 

IPO process, eventually setting up an Investor Relations section of their 

website, touting financial statements, disclosures, and essential investment 

materials. These were provided in both English and Italian.  The IPO was 

eventually processed, and Alcollezione listed 20,000 shares on the Borsa 
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Italiana in 2011. (R. at 2-3). Marconi and Factor kept their shares, remaining 

the majority shareholders. 

It was then that Doris Schutt, an investment banker and friend of 

Factor’s, suggested that the two should agree to offer unsponsored ADRs in the 

US. Marconi initially refused, but later received a phone call from Schutt on 

behalf of a hedge fund managed by her associates. They offered Marconi the 

opportunity for the fund to buy into the ADRs. While he would normally allow 

Factor to handle the more complex financial matters, he accepted on behalf of 

the company. 

Marconi then approached Factor and Cato about Alcollezione launching 

a brand new kind of alcoholic mineral water, Frizzantissimo. (R. at 4-5). Cato 

was enthusiastic about the potential success of the idea, and diligently began 

researching Italian regulations pertaining to this beverage. (R. at 5). Cato then 

properly informed Marconi of her findings, letting him know that this would be 

a difficult battle, and that short term approval of  the beverage was unlikely. (R. 

at 5). None of Cato’s cautions dissuaded Marconi from making the imminent 

launch of the product the cornerstone of the 2017 Annual Investors Meeting. 

(R. at 5). Marconi chose this strategy in an attempt to raise the price of 

Alcollezione stock. In doing so, Marconi assured the “visibly skeptical” Cato 

that, “This sort of thing happens all the time in business.” (R. at 5). Marconi’s 

assurance quickly morphed into the threat that, “Listen, this is happening with 

or without you.” (R. at 5). 
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         Relying on the assurance from her boss that the launch of 

Frizzantissimo followed business norms, and that Marconi would handle any of 

the “PR stuff if there [was] blowback,” Cato drafted disclosures for Marconi’s 

slide deck. (R. at 5). The drafted disclosures announced the launch of the drink 

in the second quarter of 2018, and included pro-forma financial statements 

detailing the drink’s projected performance. (R. at 6). These statements were 

then posted in English on the Alcollezione website. (R. at 6). Subsequently, 

Alcollezione stock jumped an initial 8%, and it gained an additional 14% in the 

early winter months. (R. at 6). On March 14, 2018, it was announced that 

production of Frizzantissimo was to be halted because it did not meet the 

Italian quality control standards. (R. at 6). The stock price then fell 29% while 

the American Depository Receipts (“ADR”) price fell 27%. (R. at 6). Following 

this stock price tumble, all three senior executives decided it would be best for 

the company if they stepped down from their roles. (R. at 6). 

         On September 6, 2018, Robert Maxelrod and other hedge fund 

managers brought action against the former executives of Alcollezione in the 

District of Fordham. (R. at 6-7). Marconi settled with the hedge fund managers 

out of court, and the suit against Factor was dismissed. (R. at 7). The hedge 

fund managers  allege that Cato, violated sections 10(b) and 10b-5 of the 

Exchange Act of 1934. (R. at 7). Cato filed a 12(b)(6) motion on October 17, 

2018, alleging that there was no domestic transaction in violation of  10(b). (R. 

at 7). Further, Cato insisted that she could not be liable under 10b-5(a) or (c) 

because they were not the “makers” of any materially misleading statements. 
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(R. at 7-8). The Court found Cato liable for the alleged false statements, to 

which Cato appealed. (R. at 8). 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure state that the 

complaint, “must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to “state a 

claim to relief that is plausible on its face” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 

(2009). This claim must be reviewed in the light most favorable to the moving 

party. A court’s dismissal for failure to state a claim is de novo. Lormand v. US 

Unwired, Inc., 565 F.3d 228, 232 (5th Cir. 2009).  

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

 In this case, the selling of unsponsored ADRs over the counter is not a 

domestic enough transaction to incur liability under 10(b). See Absolute 

Activist, 677 F.3d 60. This is because the transaction in question did not incur 

irrevocable liability or an exchange of title within the United States. The sale of 

the ADRs was so predominantly foreign that US securities law should not 

apply, because the nexus of this transaction occurred overseas, with the 

primary decision being made in Alcollezione’s office in Milan.  Parkcentral 

Global HUB Ltd. v. Porsche Auto. Holdings SE, 763 F.3d 198 (2d Cir. 2014). The 

Court now has the opportunity to correct the circuit split and to properly follow 

the enumerated intent of Congress by applying the Parkcentral test to this set 

of facts.  
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Cato should not be held primarily liable under Rule 10b-5(a) and 10b-

5(c) for two reasons. First, the rule allowing primary liability under differing 

subsections (a) and (c) was promulgated in Lorenzo v. SEC. Lorenzo initially 

brought by the SEC, determined that someone who disseminates false or 

misleading statements with the intent to defraud is primarily liable under 

subsections (a) and (c). Lorenzo v. SEC, 139 S. Ct. 1094, 1104 (2019). Because 

this case was brought by the SEC, primary vs. secondary liability was not 

considered. Therefore, the Lorenzo rule should not be considered in this 

analysis. Instead, in an individual analysis of subsections (a) and (c), Cato 

clearly was not a primary violator. Second, even if the Lorenzo rule is applied in 

this context, Cato should not be primarily liable because she did not 

disseminate false or misleading assurances, nor did she have the intent to 

defraud by providing false or misleading assurances at the Annual Meeting and 

on the company website. 

ARGUMENT 

I. THE DOMESTIC PURCHASE OF UNSPONSORED AMERICAN 
DEPOSITORY RECEIPTS IS NOT SUFFICIENT TO SUBJECT 
ALCOLLEZIONE, A FOREIGN COMPANY WITH NO REGISTERED 
EXCHANGES, TO U.S. SECURITIES LAWS. 

A. The court in Morrison has established that there is a clear 
presumption against applying 10(b) to territories outside of the 
United States. 

The “principal aim” of the supreme court in Morrison v. Nat’l Austl. Bank 

Ltd., 561 U.S. 247, 285 (2010) was to “reinforce the presumption against 

extraterritoriality.” (R. at 11).  This presumption against extraterritoriality 
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“dictates that § 10(b) has no extraterritorial application.” Parkcentral, 763 F.3d 

at 214–15 (referencing Morrison, 561 U.S. at 265, 130 S.Ct. 2869.) 

Plaintiffs in Morrison were denied relief against a parent company 

headquartered in Australia with a subsidiary company in Florida. Morrison, 

561 U.S. 247. The key issue in Morrison was whether the Securities Exchange 

Act of 1934 (“1934 Act”) provided a cause of action for foreign plaintiffs suing 

foreign and American defendants for misconduct in connection with securities 

traded on foreign exchanges. Id. The Supreme Court’s answer was a 

resounding no, ruling in Morrison that, “Section 10(b) [of the 1934 Act] does not 

punish deceptive conduct, but only deceptive conduct ‘in connection with the 

purchase or sale of any security registered on a national securities exchange or 

any security not so registered.’” Morrison, 561 U.S. at 266; see 15 U.S.C. § 

78j(b) (2018). As will be discussed below, the present issue of the purchase of 

unsponsored ADRs does not meet the standard laid out in Morrison to trigger 

liability under U.S. securities laws. 

Furthermore, the court affirmed the “longstanding principle of American 

law” that “unless a contrary intent appears,” the legislation of Congress is 

meant to apply “only within the territorial jurisdiction of the United States.” 

See EEOC v. Arabian American Oil Co., 499 U.S. 244, 248. In other words, 

“[w]hen a statute gives no clear indication of an extraterritorial application, it 

has none.” Morrison v. Nat'l Austl. Bank Ltd., 561 U.S. 247, 248. These words of 

clarification were meant to effectively dispel the misinterpretation by the 
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Second Circuit that, because the Exchange Act is silent about § 10(b)’s 

extraterritorial application, the court would be permitted to interpret the intent 

of Congress and read in such an application. See id. 

1. Using the Morrison prongs as a filter for domestic 
transactions. 

The question of extraterritorial application of 10(b) is not jurisdictional, 

but is rather based off of a transactional test. To overcome the presumption 

against extraterritoriality and secure the application of Section 10(b), plaintiffs 

must show that that the transaction at issue involves either (1) the buying and 

selling of securities listed on domestic exchanges, or (2) “any other security in 

the United States,” or in other words, domestic transactions in other securities.  

See Morrison, 561 U.S. at 255; 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b); (R. at 12). 

The alleged conduct of selling unsponsored ADRs over the counter is not 

an activity taking place on a domestic exchange.  In United States v. Georgiou, 

333 F.2d 440 (7th Cir. 1964), Georgiou sold stock over the unlicensed SEC, 

“Pink Sheets,” market.  Under 15 U.S.C. § 78f(b), an exchange is not registered 

in order to count as a securities exchange, they need to possess certain 

qualities and register with the SEC. The purpose of the act further refers to 

“securities exchanges,” and “over the counter markets,” separately, meaning 

the two ideas are mutually exclusive. Id. The trading of over the counter ADRs 

does not meet the SEC’s definition of being on a publicly listed exchange. 
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It is possible that 10(b) may be applicable to these facts because this is a 

sale of a security that took place in the United States. Stoyas v. Toshiba Corp., 

896 F.3d 933 (9th Cir. 2018) has both classified the sale of unsponsored ADRs 

as securities and has provided that their transfer counts as a sale within the 

United States. This is not surprising, because the second prong of Morrison was 

designed as a “catch-all” category, and is meant to be interpreted broadly on its 

face. However, even if this is found to be a domestic exchange of a security, 

both Parkcentral and Absolute Activist have clarified that this alone is not 

enough to bring these facts within the purview of US securities law. See 

Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 199 (2d Cir. 2014);  Absolute Activist Value Master 

Fund Ltd. v. Ficeto, 677 F. 3d 60, 67 (2d Cir. 2012).  

Even though trading over the counter securities was counted as a 

domestic transaction in Georgiou, this assumption should not be extended to 

the present case because the SEC has broader powers to pursue action than 

private citizens. 15 USCS § 77v gives the SEC specific powers to pursue action 

wherever a defendant is found. In addition, Securities are traded over these 

markets in many cases because the companies lack the price and number of 

shares to be listed on the traditional exchanges. Any harm brought about by 

these devices is going to be smaller, and less worthy of a right to action, than 

typical wrongdoing using a more traditional exchange.  In addition, these 

shares were pushed to investors with the assistance of Hansen Bank and 

Trust. This was a small-scale sale where the sales were pushed through a 

single company and various other ADR brokers. Therefore, these facts support 
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the conclusion that the unsponsored sale of ADRs is not a sufficiently domestic 

transaction to apply 10(b) extraterritorially.  

2. Irrevocable Liability has not been incurred under the 
Absolute Activist test. 

The Morrison court did not explain what leads to a classification as a 

domestic transaction, leading to a circuit split. (R. at 12). The Second Circuit 

found that a transaction is domestic “if irrevocable liability is incurred or title 

passes within the United States.” Absolute Activist, 677 F. 3d at 67. As 

discussed in the case, irrevocable liability can be interpreted as when a party 

has committed to buying or selling a security. The definition of sale is not 

dispositive, as "The terms 'buy' and 'purchase' each include any contract to 

buy, purchase, or otherwise acquire." 15 U.S.C. § 78c(a)(13). The 2nd Circuit 

has correctly enunciated that the key focus is on when there has been a 

commitment to the transaction, when a party has agreed to pay for and take a 

security or has agreed to sell one.  

Alcollezione never incurred irrevocable liability because they never agreed 

to sell a security within the US.  Parkcentral states that the Court must look at 

where the locus of the transaction took place. Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at  215.  

During the conversation with Schutt, Marconi made an oral agreement to allow 

Hansen Bank & Trust to file unsponsored ADRs. (R. at 4) Hansen Bank and 

Trust then accumulated their own irrevocable liability when they sold the ADRs 

over the counter. (R. at 4) The sale of the ADRs in the US constituted the 

consummation of the initial agreement, none of Alcollezione’s representatives 
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had anything else to do with the mechanics of actually selling the securities. 

For Alcollezione, they were committed to the agreement during the conversation 

with Schutt, Hansen Bank and Trust incurred their own liability when they 

sold the securities domestically.  

B. The purchase of unsponsored ADRs was so “predominantly 
foreign” as to exclude 10(b) liability, even if irrevocable liability was 
incurred within the US   

The Second Circuit in Parkcentral has set forth the interpretation of 

Morrison that is most aligned with both the intent of the Supreme Court and 

the express will of Congress, permitting analysis that restores the “robust” 

presumption against extraterritoriality. See Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 215; (R. at 

13). In Parkcentral, investors bruit actions against a German corporation and 

executive officers for allegedly fraudulent statements that investors alleged 

were indicative of intent to violate the Securities Exchange Act. Id. at 198. 

The Second Circuit requires that a domestic transaction take place in the 

United States for 10(b) to apply. Id. This is the Second Circuit’s attempt to keep 

the presumption against applying US law to transactions involving foreign 

conduct. See id. at 215 Absolute Activist states that there must be irrevocable 

liability, but the Second Circuit has articulated in Parkcentral that this element 

does not guarantee a right of action by itself, even though it is a requirement. 

See Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 215-216. The court found liability only when 

domestic transactions were present, rather than stating they will be domestic 

whenever such a transaction is present. Id.; see Morrison, 561 U.S. at 267. 
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There must be an additional layer of consideration as to whether or not a 

transaction is too foreign for US law to apply.  

The predominantly foreign test is not a bright line rule, but a loose 

standard adopted by the Second Circuit to prevent the miscarriage of justice. 

The Second Circuit has recognized that the unadulterated adoption of the 

Stoyas decision is a reversal of the explicit intent of the Morrison Court. It is 

not enough for some of the transaction to take place within the United States, 

there must be additional domestic activities found after a fact intensive search. 

The court further supported their test by stating that a rule applying 10(b) 

“whenever the plaintiff's suit is predicated on a domestic transaction, 

regardless of the foreignness of the facts” of the alleged violation, would 

“seriously undermine Morrison 's insistence that § 10(b) has no extraterritorial 

application.” Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at at 215. 

Here, the facts clearly indicate that this transaction was too foreign to be 

subject to US laws. The company was founded in Italy, and traded on the 

Italian stock exchange, meaning it was subject to Italian securities law. The 

alleged misrepresentation refers to a fraud concerning the viability of an Italian 

product and about its status under Italian regulatory law. The only connection 

to the securities markets of the United States is the relationship between 

Hansen Bank and Trust and Alcollezione. Alcollezione has barely availed 

themselves of the US securities market, and as such, has exposed itself 
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minimally to the consequences of those laws. The application of the bright line 

standard of Stoyas would utterly frustrate the Court’s intent in Morrison.  

The prematurely conclusive test advocated by Absolute Activist and 

perpetuated in Stoyas is not logical, nor is it sustainable for foreign businesses. 

The fact intensive search would provide courts with the means to screen out 

cases where the transaction is barely domestic enough for US law to apply. The 

consequences of this arrogation of judicial discretion would cause friction 

between the United States and foreign companies, as well as foreign 

governments, as “[s]uch a rule would inevitably place § 10(b) in conflict with 

the regulatory laws of other nations.” Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 215. In addition, 

all the cases that reference Parkcentral have only applied liability where the 

ADRs are sponsored. (R. at 15). 

The Second Circuit has applied this rule in other cases where more of the 

transaction took place in the United States. United States v. Vilar, 729 F.3d 62 

(2d Cir. 2013). In Vilar, the court concluded that Section 10(b) applied where, 

“(1) some victims entered into investment agreements in the United States; (2) 

another victim "executed the documents necessary to invest . . . in her own 

New York apartment and handed those documents to a New York messenger"; 

and (3) one victim sent the money required for opening her account from New 

York.” In this case, even though the ADRs were sold over the counter in New 

York and Connecticut, the real transaction occurred over a phone when Schutt 

called Marconi while he was in Milan. This distinguishes Alcollezione’s actions 
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from the facts in Vilar, in which the real transactions occurred entirely within 

the United States. It would be an illogical deviation from precedent to allow the 

exclusion of the Parkcentral test.  

C. Congressional intent cuts against finding that such a limited 
interaction with the U.S. market would subject Cato to U.S. 
jurisdiction.  

Congress clearly wanted to keep the application of Section 10(b) outside 

of the U.S. narrow, at least with regards to private actions. By awarding the 

broader powers of enforcement to the SEC, Congress has specifically left the 

options for private suits much narrower. The Second Circuit has recognized a 

need for a test in addition to the two-prong analysis in Morrison to properly 

convey the intent of the Supreme Court. Under Morrison, a transaction taking 

place either on a registered securities exchange or in the United States 

functions as a per se test, and a very inclusive one. Under the current 

framework, the law has become no less inclusive after Morrison. In fact, the 

number of private action Securities Exchange Act cases being litigated has not 

changed significantly after the decision. See Steven D. Solomon, The Myth of 

Morrison: Securities Fraud Litigation Against Foreign Issuers (Harvard Law 

School Forum on Corporate Governance 2018). The Second Circuit has 

correctly applied the development of this new rule. 

The Second Circuit in   references a telling precedent in Parkcentral, 

noting that laws passed by Congress are automatically assumed to have meant 

to be applied narrowly only to wrongdoing that takes place within the United 

States. Parkcentral, 763 F.3d 198. The Second Circuit has acknowledged that 
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there needs to be some nuance to the tests we use to assess what foreign 

transactions are able to be prosecuted within the United States. Considering 

this, the Second Circuit undertook a facts intensive analysis to determine if the 

transaction, while technically domestic, was still so predominantly foregin as to 

render the U.S. security laws inapplicable to the transaction. 

The deceptive behavior in this case took place at an annual investors 

meeting in Italy, with a company who was listed exclusively on the Italian, not 

the U.S., stock exchange. Furthermore, Cato did not make any of the 

misleading statements herself and did not agree to allow Hansen Bank and 

Trust to sell the ADRs, thus removing Cato several steps from the wrongdoing. 

Moreover, if Congress had wanted to give private citizens the right to settle 

every grievance with a foreign party, then they would have written the SEC 

privileges into those rights when they passed the Dodd-Frank Act. The Second 

Circuit’s rule allows for a degree of flexibility by providing courts with the 

option to exercise discretion when applying a law in a situation that would be 

outside of Congressional intent. Allowing Cato to avoid liability would be an 

excellent use of this discretion.  

D. Parkcentral standard should be applied to all extraterritorial cases 
because of public policy considerations 

In addition to the arguments predicated on these specific facts, the 

decision to apply the Parkcentral criteria to all subsequent extraterritoriality 

cases would provide for an increase in efficiency. While the rule is broad, it 

only truly applies to cases where the transaction is loosely alleged to have 
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taken place in the United States. This rule would discourage domestic plaintiffs 

from bringing suits in borderline extraterritorial situations. This is exactly the 

kind of discouragement that Morrison was attempting to achieve and prevents 

drawn out, involved suits over small issues of domesticity. It was not the 

Court’s intent to adopt a test that allows almost wholly foreign activity to be 

litigated domestically just because the plaintiff made a domestic transaction. 

The adoption of the Parkcentral test would perfectly serve the precedent and 

would further clarify which cases are not worth litigating.  

Applying Stoyas to this set of facts shows the absurdity of not having an 

additional layer of scrutiny on top of the per se Morrison test. Unsponsored 

ADRs can be issued without the issuing company’s permission or knowledge. 

They are usually set up in collaboration with a depository institution, but that 

is done as both a courtesy and a wise business practice. Without the addition 

of the Parkcentral test to the prongs of Morrison, a US depository institution 

could issue unsponsored ADRs without consulting a foreign company, which 

would instantly and unjustly involve an innocent party in US securities 

litigation. This is not only illogical, but sets up the potential to enable bad faith 

abuses of securities law. The addition of a facts-based test proactively heads off 

this potential for abuse and provides an out for parties whose actions are 

barely within the extraterritorial scope of US law.  
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II. CATO SHOULD NOT BE PRIMARILY LIABLE UNDER 10B-5(a) OR 
10B-5(c) FOR DRAFTING FRAUDULENT ASSURANCES. 

In order to violate Rule 10b-5, a perpetrator must either (a) employ some 

device, scheme, or artifice to defraud; (b) make some material misstatement or 

omission of material fact causing the statement to be misleading; or (c) commit 

any act or practice which operates as fraud. See Rule 10b-5(a)-(c). Because this 

is a private action brought subject to the implied right of action under Section 

10(b), a claim can only be brought against Cato if Cato is found to be primarily 

liable for the supposed fraud. See Central Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First 

Interstate Bank of Denver, N.A., 511 U.S. 164, 191 (1994). 

In Janus Capital Groups, Inc. v. First Derivative Traders 564 U.S. 135, 

142 (2011), the Supreme Court determined that under Rule 10b-5(b), only 

those who make a statement, meaning the “entity with ultimate authority over 

the statement,” can be held primarily liable. It is not argued here that Cato is 

primarily liable as the maker of the statements according to Rule 10b-5(b). 

Instead, it is argued that Cato is primarily liable under Rule 10b-5(a) and 10b-

5(c) even though she is only secondarily liable under 10b-5(b). 

In Lorenzo v. SEC, the Supreme Court declared that someone who 

disseminates false or misleading statements with the intent to defraud are 

primarily liable under Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) even if they are only secondarily 

liable under 10b-5(b). Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. 1094, 1104 (2019). In doing so, the 

Supreme Court explained that the subsections of Rule 10b-5 are not mutually 

exclusive. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1101. 
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However, Lorenzo should not be applicable to our case because it was 

brought by the primary enforcer of Rule 10b-5 and Section 10(b), the SEC. See 

Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. 1094. Because of the nature of the claim, the issue of 

primary vs. secondary liability that is so pertinent to this case was not 

discussed; Lorenzo should therefore be limited to its own facts and not applied 

to this case. Instead, Cato’s actions should be analyzed according to the 

specific language of subsections (a) and (c) individually. Under a careful 

analysis of these sections, it is clear that Cato does not fulfill the statutory 

requirements to incur liability under subsections (a) and (c). Moreover, even if 

Lorenzo were to be applied to this case, Cato still could not be a primary 

violator of Rule 10b-5 because Cato did not disseminate the claimed false or 

misleading statements here, nor did she have the intent to defraud. Therefore, 

Cato’s Rule 12(b)(6) motion for failure to state a claim should be accepted. 

A. Lorenzo should not apply to this case because it is an SEC case 
that should be limited to its own facts. Therefore, we should 
analyze this case individually under (a) and (c).  

According to Section 10(b) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, 

the SEC has the right to promulgate and enforce rules on manipulative and 

deceptive behavior in regards to securities trading. Securities and Exchange 

Act of 1934, Section 10(b); 15 U.S.C. Section 78j. In Lorenzo, the SEC brought 

action against Lorenzo for violating Rule 10b-5, Section 10(b) of the Securities 

and Exchange Act of 1934, and Section 17(a)(1) of the Securities Act. Lorenzo 

139 S. Ct. at 1099. Because of this, the SEC was allowed to bring the claim 

against Lorenzo regardless of what form of liability Lorenzo held. The Supreme 
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Court, therefore, in fashioning its rule in Lorenzo on providing primary liability 

to disseminators of false or misleading statements, did not have to consider the 

repercussions of allowing a private party to bring a claim under those rules. 

Indeed, Lorenzo’s only discussion of private actions comes when it mentions 

Janus and Central Bank, not when the court is analyzing the likelihood that a 

defendant will be subject to primary liability against a private entity. See 

Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1104-05. 

Because Lorenzo never had to deal with the crucial issue of applying 

primary liability to a defendant in a private action, Lorenzo should not apply to 

the current case. Doing so would expand a narrowly implied right of action 

from a case that was based on a statutorily explicit enforcement policy. Here, 

hedge fund managers are suing Cato according to the implied right of action 

found under Section 10(b). See Halliburton Co. v. Erica P. John Fund, Inc., 573 

U.S. 258, 267 (2014). If Lorenzo were applied, a ruling found according to an 

SEC instituted case would provide Cato with primary liability. Cato should not 

be subjected to such liability when the case at hand is being brought by private 

hedge fund managers. 

Considering that Cato should not be subject to Lorenzo’s ruling, it follows 

that Cato’s circumstances cannot be analyzed under a rule in which the 

subsections of Rule 10b-5 are not mutually exclusive. Indeed, the 

subcategories of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act are “distinct categor[ies] of 

misconduct” that “cover additional kinds of illegalities.” Aaron v. SEC, 446 U.S. 
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680, 697 (1980) (citing United States v. Naftalin, 441 U.S. 768, 774 (1979)). 

Instead, Cato’s actions should be considered under Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) 

individually, as it is not argued whether or not Cato’s actions constituted 

violations of 10b-5(b). Under both 10b-5(a) and (c), however, Cato was not 

primarily liable for the claimed fraud. 

1. Cato did not violate 10b-5(a). 

Rule 10b-5(a) only covers the conduct that “employ[s] any device, 

scheme, or artifice to defraud.” Rule 10b-5(a). Therefore, Cato would not only 

have had to employ such a device, but she would also have had the intent to 

defraud. Rule 10b-5(a) carries an implied scienter requirement in using terms 

such as “scheme,” “artifice,” and “defraud.” Aaron v. S.E.C., 446 U.S. 680, 696 

(1980). Cato did not violate this subsection because neither she nor Marconi 

lacked had intent to defraud the investors. Nothing in the record shows that 

Cato intended to cheat investors. Cato only drafted statements for an Annual 

Meeting on Marconi’s advice that her concerns about the regulatory 

requirements would not become an issue. (R. at 5-6). Indeed, the record states 

that “it was unclear whether Frizzantissimo would run afoul of any beverage 

regulations.” (R. at 6, emphasis added). By drafting assurances for the meeting, 

Cato was not attempting to cheat the investors out of anything. She, as a fairly 

new attorney working under the CEO and CFO, was reasonably taking 

Marconi’s word that such concerns were “perfectly common in business.” (R. at 

5). 

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1979135115&pubNum=708&originatingDoc=I618389f69c1f11d9bc61beebb95be672&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_708_2082&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)#co_pp_sp_708_2082
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1979135115&pubNum=708&originatingDoc=I618389f69c1f11d9bc61beebb95be672&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_708_2082&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)#co_pp_sp_708_2082
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1979135115&pubNum=708&originatingDoc=I618389f69c1f11d9bc61beebb95be672&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_708_2082&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)#co_pp_sp_708_2082
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Additionally, Cato was not the one employing any “device, scheme, or 

artifice.” See Rule 10b-5(a). Drafting statements at the behest of a boss who 

plans to distribute those statements is not equivalent to employing a plan or 

scheme. For example, in Lorenzo, a director of investment banking was deemed 

liable for employing a “device, scheme, or artifice to defraud” when he sent 

investors emails that omitted material information. Conversely, here Cato did 

not send, present, or employ any information, regardless of what the 

information was. Cato only drafted assurance statements with Marconi’s advice 

which were to then be distributed at an Annual Meeting by Marconi. Marconi 

presented the assurance statements to the board and therefore employed the 

device in question. Cato’s actions in drafting the supposedly fraudulent 

statements could only go so far as to subject her to aiding and abetting 

Marconi in employing the claimed “scheme” at hand. However, under Central 

Bank, private plaintiffs, such as the hedge fund managers here, cannot bring a 

primary liability suit against someone who aids and abets in accordance with 

Section 10(b). Central Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate Bank of Denver, 

N.A., 114 S. Ct. 1439, 1454 (1994). Cato, therefore, cannot be held liable under 

10b-5(a). 

2.  Cato did not violate 10b-5(c). 

Rule 10b-5(c) prohibits “engag[ing] in any act, practice, or course of 

business which operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit.” Rule 10b-5(c); 

(R. at 21). Subsection (c) cannot be misinterpreted as a catch-all provision as 

the subcategories of Rule 10b-5 and Section 17(a) enumerate distinct 
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categories of illegality.  See Aaron v. SEC, 446 U.S. 680, 697 (1980) (citing 

United States v. Naftalin, 441 U.S. 768, 774 (1979)). Moreover, actions covered 

by other subsections should not be reallocated to subsection (c) simply because 

subsection (c) is broad enough to include them. See RadLAX Gateway Hotel, 

LLC v. Amalgamated Bank, 566 U.S. 639, 645-46 (2012) (citing D. Ginsberg & 

Sons v. Popkin, 285 U.S. 204, 208 (1932)). 

In the present case, the hedge fund managers argue that the statements 

relied upon in connection with their purchase of Alcollezione were false and 

misleading. (R. at 7). Specifically, the hedge fund managers argue that they 

relied on false and misleading statements that were delivered to them in an 

annual meeting and published on the Alcollezione website. Id. Such actions in 

any case are more properly attributed to subsection (b), which is violated when 

some entity makes a material misstatement or omission of material fact 

causing the statement to be misleading. Rule 10b-5(b).  

B. Even if Lorenzo does apply, Cato still should not be held primarily 
liable because she did not disseminate the information with the 
intent to defraud. 

If the court here were to determine that Lorenzo still does apply 

notwithstanding its status as an SEC case, Cato’s 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss 

should still be granted because Cato did not intentionally disseminate false or 

misleading information. Under Lorenzo, “[d]issemination of false or misleading 

statements with intent to defraud can fall within the scope of subsections (a) 

and (c) of Rule 10b-5, as well as the relevant statutory provisions.” Lorenzo, 

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1979135115&pubNum=708&originatingDoc=I618389f69c1f11d9bc61beebb95be672&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_708_2082&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)#co_pp_sp_708_2082
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1979135115&pubNum=708&originatingDoc=I618389f69c1f11d9bc61beebb95be672&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_708_2082&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)#co_pp_sp_708_2082
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1979135115&pubNum=708&originatingDoc=I618389f69c1f11d9bc61beebb95be672&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_708_2082&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)#co_pp_sp_708_2082
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1979135115&pubNum=708&originatingDoc=I618389f69c1f11d9bc61beebb95be672&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_708_2082&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)#co_pp_sp_708_2082
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139 S. Ct. at 1100. Therefore, Cato can be held primarily liable for violating 

subcategories (a) and (c) as long as she disseminated the misleading 

statements to the hedge fund managers with the intent to defraud. However, 

Cato should not be held liable here because she was not the disseminator of 

the misleading statements, nor was she acting with any intent to defraud the 

hedge fund managers. 

1.  Cato was merely a drafter, not a disseminator 

As the Court of Appeals here has appropriately noted, drafting false 

assurances for a superior does not qualify as dissemination. By the dictionary 

definition, dissemination is “the act of spreading, diffusing, or dispersing.” 

Blacks Law Dictionary (11th edition, 2019). Therefore, for purposes of Lorenzo’s 

rule, in order to correctly be labeled a disseminator, an actor must spread, 

diffuse, or disperse false or misleading statements. 

In Lorenzo, a director of investment banking was deemed a disseminator 

of false or misleading information when he sent two emails to investors, with 

contents and approval provided from his boss, that held materially false 

information. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1101. Additionally, the emails were signed 

and invited the investors to reach out with questions regarding the contents. 

Id. The Supreme Court explained that liability was appropriate because the 

disseminator “sent the false statements directly to investors, invited them to 

follow up with questions, and did so in his capacity as vice president of an 

investment company.” Id. (emphasis added). A director who “sends” information 
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appropriately falls under the disseminator” label because “sending” is closely 

related to “spreading, diffusing, or dispersing.” Id.; Blacks Law Dictionary (11th 

edition, 2019). Moreover, inviting questions about the information under the 

veil of corporate official status only adds to the perception that the defendant in 

Lorenzo was the one disseminating the information.  

Here, however, Cato did not send, disperse, or spread the statements in 

the Annual Meeting or on the Alcollezione website. Cato was asked by her 

superior, Marconi, to draft assurances for the Annual Meeting. (R. at 5). Upon 

Marconi’s reassurance that her concerns were without merit, Cato drafted the 

assurances and inserted them “into Marconi’s slide deck” and Factor’s financial 

statements. (R. at 6). Marconi then delivered his slide deck at the Annual 

Meeting and passed along financial statements including the assurances. Id. 

Marconi’s slide deck and the financial statements were then posted onto the 

company website. 

The continuing theme throughout this process is that the false or 

misleading statements were delivered through Marconi’s slide deck and 

Factor’s financial statements. In Lorenzo, the statements were disseminated 

through the investment banker’s capacity, thus lending him to being a 

disseminator. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1101. The statements here were dispersed 

at the Annual Meeting and on the website through the slide deck and financial 

statements under Marconi and Factor’s capacities, not through Cato’s capacity. 
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Cato did not deliver, disperse, or spread the statements she drafted; Marconi 

and Factor did this through their own tools. 

Additionally, there is nothing in the record to show that Cato requested 

any questions, comments, or the like in the assurances. See id. At 5-6. In 

Lorenzo, the investment banker requested any questions regarding the 

statements he had dispersed. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1101. Cato has done no 

such thing. In fact, the record would lend one to believe that if there were any 

questions regarding the misleading statements, Marconi and Factor would be 

the ones to ask, as it was through Marconi’s slide deck and Factor’s financial 

statements that they saw the assurances Cato drafted. Indeed, Cato’s presence 

at the Annual Meeting is not even mentioned in the record. (R. at 6). Simply 

put, Marconi requested the assurances, which were then dispersed through 

Marconi’s slide deck and Factor’s financial statements at the Annual Meeting. 

(R. at 5-6). Cato’s presence as a drafter made her nothing but a tangential 

actor in comparison to Marconi and Factor. 

2. Cato did not have the intent to defraud 

In order to manifest the intent required for Rule 10b-5, an actor must 

have “a mental state embracing the intent to deceive, manipulate, or defraud.” 

Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1100 (quoting Aaron v. SEC, 446 U.S. 680, 686 (1980)). 

Additionally, a number of circuits have determined that the intent to defraud 

can be found when a violator acts with extreme recklessness. See e.g., Dirks v. 

SEC, 681 F.2d 824, 844-45 (D.C. Cir. 1982); McDonald v. Alan Bush Brokerage 
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Co., 863 F.2d 809, 814 (11th Cir. 1989); Vucinich v. Paine, Webber, Jackson & 

Curtis, Inc., 739 F.2d 1435, 1435 (9th Cir. 1984); Warren v. Reserve Fund, 728 

F.2d 741, 745 (5th Cir. 1984). The extreme recklessness standard is not just 

an ordinary increased negligence standard, but one in which the actor must 

have been aware of a danger is so clearly obvious that the actor had to have 

known about it and clearly disregarded it. See Lorenzo v. SEC, 872 F.3d 578, 

583 (D.C. Cir. 2017). In Dolphin and Bradbury, Inc. v. SEC, a defendant was 

held to have the intent to defraud by the recklessness standard when he failed 

to completely disclose to investors a risk he knew would occur. 512 F.3d 634, 

640 (D.C. Cir. 2008). Additionally, the danger in misleading investors increased 

when defendant was nearly entirely certain that the risk would occur, and the 

risk was enormously dangerous to the misled investors. Id. 

Here, there was no certainty that Cato’s concerns would come to fruition 

as seen in Dolphin.  Dolphin and Bradbury, Inc. v. SEC, 512 F.3d 634, 640 (D.C. 

Cir. 2008). Indeed, at worst, Cato mentioned that compliance with regulations 

“seemed unlikely in the short-term.” (R. at 5). Cato also mentioned that it 

appeared that compliance “would be an uphill climb.” Id. While these 

statements do make clear that Cato was aware of possible issues, they do not 

rise to the level seen in Dolphin, where the defendant was clearly aware of 

present risks that were certain to occur, yet failed to properly disclose such 

risks. Moreover, the record clearly shows that not only was there no certainty 

that Cato’s concerns would manifest, but it was generally unclear as to 

whether Frizzantissimo would violate any beverage regulations. (R. at 6). 



R01 

26 

 

Considering this, Cato did not act with extreme recklessness when she drafted 

assurances for investors with concerns about a risk that was unclear as to 

whether or not it would manifest at all.  

Additionally, Cato did not have “a mental state embracing the intent to 

deceive, manipulate, or defraud” when she drafted assurances on the advice 

from Marconi. There is no evidence in the record to show that Cato acted with 

deception, nor did she intend to cheat the investors. First, Cato only drafted 

the assurances after Marconi ensured her that her concerns would definitely be 

resolved and that such issues were “perfectly common in business.” (R. at 5). 

At that point, Cato made the decision to draft the assurances because Marconi, 

through his position as CEO, had provided her with a reasonable belief that 

her concerns without merit. Additionally, Cato’s actions in warning Marconi 

initially about her regulatory concerns show that she did not possess any 

intentions of manipulating, defrauding or deceiving any of the investors. 

Because Cato did not act with extreme recklessness in drafting the assurances 

and did not possess any intent to defraud the investors, Cato cannot be held 

primarily liable under the Lorenzo standard. 

In summary, Cato cannot be found  to be primarily liable under 10b-5(a) 

and (c) because she is not disseminator of false or misleading statements with 

an intent to defraud under the analysis set out in Lorenzo. 
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III. CATO SHOULD NOT BE HELD LIABLE FOR VIOLATING SECTION 
10(b) AND RULE 10B-5 FOR THE PURPOSES OF PUBLIC POLICY 

If this court allows Cato to be subject to Section 10(b), this would set two 

dangerous precedents. First, the decision would further muddy the waters on 

what is and is not permissible under U.S. securities law.  Second, it would 

make clear that a foreign company can be liable for a depository institution’s 

over-the-counter ADRs trading without the company’s consent or involvement. 

Without the domestic transaction part of the test, the Morrison decision is 

essentially reduced to a rule of strict liability. Ignoring the intent of Congress, 

this over-inclusive and bad for public policy. 

Additionally, in Morrison, the Supreme Court attempted to reinstate the 

preference against the application of Section 10(b) towards extraterritoriality. 

However, the bright line transactional test has had the opposite effect of 

making Section 10(b) overly inclusive. Today, unsponsored ADRs could 

possibly be included in the inclusive Morrison ruling. Unsponsored ADRs are 

something that a depository institution can issue without the consent of the 

company whose stock it is tied to. In Cornwell v. Credit Suisse Corp., a New 

York court ruled that Congress knew perfectly well that the intended 

interpretation of Section 10(b) would allow American investors to get hurt by 

activities that further the sale of securities taking place within the United 

States. Cornwell v. Credit Suisse Group, 729 F. Supp. 2d 620,  (S.D.N.Y. July 

26, 2010). Clearlty, the application of Section 10(b) extraterritorially is meant 

to be interpreted very narrowly here, and should not be applied to Cato. 
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Furthermore, following the Ninth Circuit’s lead in the aftermath of the 

Morrison decision would only serve to cause more confusion and chaos in the 

field of securities law. Stoyas v. Toshiba Corp., 896 F.3d 933 (9th Cir. 2018). 

Cato did not have ultimate authority over the statement because Marconi was 

in control the entire time. It was Marconi that subtly threatened Cato to push 

through the statement, it was Marconi who assured Cato that he would take 

the consequences of his actions, and it was Marconi that decided to use the 

instruments at his control to lie to his investors. Cato always tried to keep the 

best interest of all parties in mind. She researched her field of law, she warned 

Marconi that it was unlikely they would get to release their new product 

anytime soon, and she had objections when she was ordered to mislead the 

investors. A neutral reading of the facts supports the assertion that Cato had 

very little to do with the misleading statements. Applying the Ninth Circuit’s 

ruling from Stoyas here would find otherwise, thus resulting in utter anarchy 

in understanding the jurisdictional application of U.S. securities laws. 

Alcollezione has already paid out for the damages incurred in this case. 

There has already been a recovery as a direct result of a private action because 

the petitioners here settled their claims against Alcollezione already. (R. at 7). 

The petitioners have also already settled with the main culprit of the 

wrongdoing here, Marconi. Id. The petitioners in this case are attempting to 

collect as much money as they can from someone who truly had very little to 

do with the alleged misrepresentations. Plaintiffs should have the right to 

recover the maximum amount allowed under the law, but only if it is justified. 
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There are many factors that obfuscate the clear assignment of blame to Cato, 

and the Court should recognize these circumstances by blocking this claim to 

prevent the petitioners from even the most tangential of actors. 

Despite the fact that Cato had little agency over her role in the 

misleading statements, a decision of this case in favor of the 9th Circuit Stoyas 

decision would mean that Cato would be liable in the U.S. for something that 

happened in Italy, involving an Italian company. This claim has potential to be 

litigated by the Italian government, even though that process has not been 

started yet. Each country has its own security laws and it is up to those 

individual countries to enforce those laws. It is a cognizable policy goal that the 

U.S. wants to allow countries to adjudicate their own claims, both for 

autonomy reasons and that the Court does not want to spend its precious 

resources litigating claims taking place in other countries. Finding Cato liable 

here would be in ill-advised turn for our judicial economy towards becoming 

the world’s securities law court. 

A finding that Cato is liable under Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 would 

extend a private party’s reach to, at worst, an aider and abetter involved solely 

in drafting assurance statements on the recommendation of her foregin boss 

for her foreign company. Such a finding would be grossly disproportionate to 

the claimed violation and would for functional purposes obliterate the SEC’s 

statutory right to enforce the Securities Act of 1934. If Section 10(b) and Rule 

10b-5 were applied in these circumstances against Cato by a private party, 



R01 

30 

 

then private parties will have relatively unlimited jurisdiction to serve anyone 

even remotely related to a possible violation of the Securities Act of 1934 in 

U.S. courts. From this, United States courts will be flooded with foreign aiders 

and abettors subject private litigations for countries they may have never been 

to, worked in, or done business with. 

There is no presumption that any US law can apply extraterritorially, and 

even just looking at the facts from this case, there are many rules as to when 

and how they can be applied. Under the current facts and law, Cato’s 

circumstances are unique. Because this circumstance is unique, the Court 

should be moved by the strong presumption at every level of the law against 

applying US securities laws to alleged deceptive conduct taking place outside 

the bounds of the United States. It is not the job of the US to police the world’s 

securities fraud, or to pursue a claim to a barely connected individual halfway 

around the world. Cato has gone beyond the limit of extraterritorial 

jurisdiction, even though some offending conduct has happened inside the US. 

CONCLUSION 

 For the reasons stated herein, Respondent Ava Cato respectfully requests 

for this Court to affirm the decision of the United States Court of Appeals for 

the Fourteenth Circuit. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Team R01 

Counsel for the Respondent, Ava Cato 

 


